THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM WILLIAMSBURG COUNTY
John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge

JUN 26 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2013-002391

The State of South Carolina, Respondent,

v.

Justin McBride, Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Wendy J. Keefer
Keefer & Keefer, LLC
1643B Savannah Hwy, Suite 226
Charleston, South Carolina 29407
(843) 860-1534
wendykeefe@yahoo.com

Adam Owensby
Carolina Firm, LLC
Post Office box 21043
Charleston, South Carolina 29413
(843) 732-2326
adam@carolinafirm.com

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT LACK SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION IN THIS MATTER INVOLVING A DEFENDANT WHO WAS SIXTEEN AT THE TIME OF THE ALLEGED CRIME OR, DO THE RELEVANT STATUTES PERMITTING THE EXERCISE OF SUCH JURISDICTION, WITHOUT A CASE-SPECIFIC ANALYSIS, FAIL TO ENSURE APPROPRIATE CONSTITUTIONAL PROTECTIONS FOR DEFENDANT MCBRIDE?
- II. ASSUMING THE CIRCUIT COURT HAD JURISDICTION, DID THE CIRCUIT COURT'S EVIDENTIARY RULINGS AND CONFUSING AND ERRONEOUS JURY INSTRUCTIONS VIOLATE MCBRIDE'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS?
 - A. Did Law Enforcement's Losing Key and Potentially Exculpatory Evidence Without Explanation and Contrary to Admitted Investigatory Norms, Violate Due Process, or At a Minimum, Require That a Spoliation Charge Be Given to the Jury?
 - B. Did Due Process, or Rule 5, Require Exclusion of the Photograph of the Victim Where The "Photograph" Was Provided to Defense Counsel as a Black Sheet of Copy Paper, Not as the Color Photograph Introduced Into Evidence, and Where the Actual Color Photograph Was Not Even in the Solicitor's File to be Reviewed by Defense Counsel Prior to Trial?
 - C. Did The Circuit Court Err in Prohibiting Defense Counsel from Cross-Examining Law Enforcement Witnesses on Their Investigation of This Matter, Specifically as Relates to the Investigatory Tools Provided to Law Enforcement by S.C. Code § 16-3-750?
 - D. Were McBride's Due Process Rights Violated When The Court Instructed the Jury That No Corroboration Was Required to Support the Alleged Victim's Testimony, Where Such Instruction Had The Effect of Impermissibly Shifting The Burden of Proof, Confusing the Jury, and Elevating the Importance of One Witness' Testimony Over Others In Contravention of McBride's Right Against Self-Incrimination?
- III. WAS THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED BY THE STATE LEGALLY INSUFFICIENT TO PROVE THE REQUIRED ELEMENTS OF THE CRIME CHARGED UNDER S.C. CODE § 16-3-655(A)(1)?

IV. WERE DEFENDANT'S MIRANDA RIGHTS VIOLATED, REQUIRING EXCLUSION OF ALL EVIDENCE OF STATEMENTS MADE BY MCBRIDE TO LAW ENFORCEMENT?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Justin McBride ("McBride") was indicted on charges of first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor and assault with intent to commit first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor by return of a true bill on December 2, 2010.¹ McBride pled not guilty to both charges. A jury trial was held before the Honorable John C. Hayes, III on October 28-30, 2013. The jury returned a verdict of guilty as to Count 1, first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor. (R. Vol. II pp. 365-366.) The jury returned a verdict of not guilty on Count 2, assault with intent to commit criminal sexual conduct. (R. Vol. II p. 366.)

Following the verdict, McBride's counsel renewed previously made requests for directed verdict, renewed various objections to the Court's evidentiary rulings during trial, and made an oral motion for a new trial. (R. Vol. II pp. 367-368.) Those motions were denied. (R. Vol. II pp. 368-369.) On October 30, 2013, McBride was sentenced to 25 years imprisonment. (R. Vol. II p. 378.) Notice of McBride's Intent to Appeal was filed on that same date. The Notice of Appeal was then filed with the lower court on November 1,

¹ This matter was never pending in Family Court. Rather, the solicitor, in her sole discretion, chose to file these charges against 16 year old McBride in Circuit Court under S.C. Code § 63-19-20(1). McBride contends this statute improperly vests this discretion in the prosecutor by defining who constitutes a "child" or "juvenile" by the crime allegedly committed instead of any analysis of the true maturity or best interests of the minor involved or justice itself.

2013 and this Court on November 7, 2013, challenging both McBride's conviction and sentence.

STATEMENT OF THE BASIC FACTS

McBride is the cousin of the alleged victim in this case. (R. Vol. I p. 72, lines 9-11.) At the time of the alleged incident that gave rise to the charges, McBride was 16 years old; his cousin was 9. (R. Vol. I p. 82, lines 9-12; R. Vol. I p. 170-171; R. Vol. I p. 80, lines 23-24; R. Vol. I p. 81, lines 2-6.)

After returning from school on the school bus, the alleged victim found her mother was not at home. (R. Vol. I p. 83, lines 1-20.) She then either went to a neighbor's house, but did not stay because the neighbor had company, or went directly to McBride's house. (R. Vol. I pp. 83-85.) In any event, she ended up at McBride's house. (R. Vol. I p. 85, lines 13-24.) They all lived in very close proximity to one another.

The testimony from this point gets very unclear and confusing as to actual events. What is clear is that at some point the alleged victim left to return home. (R. Vol. I p. 93, lines 23-24.) At some point after returning home – again the timeline is not clear -- she disclosed some incident with McBride, her cousin. (R. Vol. I pp. 94, line 24 through 95, line 10; R. Vol. I p. 99, lines 3-8.) After some unspecified period of time, and with the alleged victim's mother wanting to wait until her husband (the alleged victim's father) got home, family members called the police. (R. Vol. I p. 95; R. Vol. II p. 249, line 20 to 250, line 19.)

Several police officers arrived, including a female officer who was called in to speak with the female alleged victim. (R. Vol. I pp. 168-169.) After getting the alleged victim's statement, that officer spoke with McBride. (R. Vol. I p. 170, lines 18-22.) This conversation occurred in McBride's home. (R. Vol. I p. 171, lines 2-20.) Two additional uniformed officers² were also present during the questioning of McBride. (R. Vol. I pp. 34-35; R. Vol. I p. 171, line 21 to p. 172, line 1.) And, testimony revealed that, though not technically under arrest, officers stood essentially between McBride and the door to his home, as well as outside McBride's home. (R. Vol. I p. 33, lines 3-10; R. Vol. I pp. 30-31, R. Vol. I pp. 171-172.)

McBride denied the actions described by the alleged victim. (R. Vol. I pp. 37, 173-174.) His version of events was, at all times, different from the alleged victim and consisted of no wrongdoing. (R. Vol. I pp. 173-174.) A portion of his statement – provided without being informed of his Fifth Amendment rights – was used against him at trial. (R. Vol. II pp. 320-323.)

Only a handful of witnesses testified at trial, including the alleged victim. The alleged victim's own testimony was confusing and conflicting. (R. Vol. I pp. 87, 91, 94-96, 122-124, 139-140.) She appears to assert that McBride attempted to force her to perform oral sex and attempted to penetrate her anally. (R. Vol. I pp. 87, 92-93.) She indicated that semen ended up on the shirt she was wearing, as well as on a tissue she used to wipe it off. (R. Vol. I p. 89, line 19 to p. 90, line 9.)

² The police department no longer employs either the investigator or the two officers present during the questioning of McBride. (R. Vol. I pp. 32, 181.)

Other witnesses included the alleged victim's mother and aunt and two of the police officers who responded to the original complaint. (R. Vol I p. 167; R. Vol. II pp. 213, 259.) The only physical evidence introduced included a color photograph of the alleged victim on the day of the incident. (R. Vol. I pp. 143-145, 177; R. Vol. II pp. 261-63.) The photograph purported to show a deodorant stain on the shoulder of the alleged victim's shirt. (R. Vol. I p. 176.)

Disturbingly, responding officers did not collect the shirt worn by the alleged victim. (R. Vol. II pp. 190, 237.) Instead, after at least several days, the alleged victim's mother brought the shirt to the police department. (R. Vol. II pp. 237-240.) The shirt was never tested to determine the presence either of semen or deodorant. (R. Vol. I p. 72, lines 18-22; R. Vol. II pp. 189-191, 260-261, 341.) In fact, the shirt was never sent to SLED for any testing and was lost. (R. Vol. II pp. 265-266.) At no time was the shirt available to the defense; nor was it tested and results of such testing provided. (R. Vol. II pp. 266-267.) The police also never tested any materials from McBride, such as his deodorant. (R. Vol. II pp. 203, 341.) Even the police department's evidence sheet, completed with all evidence submissions, was missing. (R. Vol. II p. 267, lines 1-14.)

Despite this lack of evidence, the jury returned a guilty verdict on the charge of first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor based on the State's claim that oral sex occurred. (R. Vol. II pp. 365-366.) This verdict was unsupported by the evidence and followed several erroneous evidentiary decisions of the Circuit Court, along with confusing jury charges, violating

McBride's Due Process rights. McBride, only sixteen at the time of the incident, was sentenced to 25 years without parole.

The facts in this case, discussed in greater depth as relevant to the issues raised below, and the legal errors committed at trial, require reversal of McBride's conviction.

ARGUMENT

This appeal raises a number of serious issues. First, this case involves significant legal questions regarding the proper treatment of juveniles in our criminal justice system. Moreover, the issues regarding the handling of evidence in this matter and treatment of those deficiencies at trial, if upheld, would only serve to encourage negligent investigation and handling of evidence. Specifically, when taken together, these errors made it impossible for McBride to defend himself absent taking the witness stand. A criminal defendant simply cannot be forced to undergo a process that would require such testimony. Even where no one error, alone, may mandate reversal, the totality of these circumstances – involving lost evidence, permitting introduction of surprise and incomplete evidence, excluded cross examination, and dangerously confusing jury charges -- hindered the defense to such an extent that the process provided simply cannot meet constitutionally required standards.

- I. THE CIRCUIT COURT LACKED SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION IN THIS MATTER INVOLVING A DEFENDANT WHO WAS SIXTEEN AT THE TIME OF THE ALLEGED CRIME OR, IF THE RELEVANT STATUTES PERMITTED THE EXERCISE OF SUCH JURISDICTION WITHOUT A CASE-SPECIFIC ANALYSIS, THOSE STATUTES FAIL

TO ENSURE APPROPRIATE CONSTITUTIONAL PROTECTIONS
FOR DEFENDANT MCBRIDE.

It is undisputed that McBride was only sixteen (16) years old at the time of the alleged crime. Current South Carolina law provides, in relevant part, that the Family Courts of South Carolina “shall have exclusive original jurisdiction and shall be the sole court for initiating action: (1) Concerning any child living or found within the geographical limits of its jurisdiction: (d) who is alleged to have violated or attempted to violate any state or local law or municipal ordinance” S.C. Code § 63-3-510 (emphasis added). In accordance with this grant of exclusive jurisdiction, the law further provides that “a case involving a child must be transferred or retained as follows:”

(1) If, during the pendency of a criminal or quasi-criminal charge against a child in a circuit court of this State, it is ascertained that the child was under the age of seventeen at the time of committing the alleged offense, it is the duty of the circuit court immediately to transfer the case, together with all papers, documents, and testimony connected with it, to the family court of competent jurisdiction, except in those cases where the Constitution gives to the circuit court exclusive jurisdiction or in those cases where jurisdiction has properly been transferred to the circuit court by the family court under the provisions of this section.

S.C. Code § 63-19-1210 (emphasis added).

After initiation of a case in family court, where the case involves murder or criminal sexual conduct, the prosecuting authority “may request in writing that the case be transferred to the court of general sessions with a view to proceeding against the child as a criminal rather than as a child” S.C. Code § 63-19-1210(6). Various procedures are established for this transfer. Id. “If the circuit judge elects to exercise the jurisdiction of the

general sessions court for trial of the case, he shall issue an order to that effect . . .” Id.

No constitutional provision could be located that provides for exclusive jurisdiction in the circuit court for this case. Indeed, exclusive jurisdiction for trials involving the violation of laws by a child of sixteen, like McBride, lies in the Family Court. Once initiated in that court, the case may be transferred but only in accordance with S.C. Code § 63-19-1210. Review of the Circuit Court docket entries shows no evidence this case was transferred from any Family Court. Rather, the matter appears to have been initiated in Circuit Court.

Moreover, the circuit judge electing to exercise jurisdiction over a trial like this one is required to “issue an order to that effect.” S.C. Code § 63-19-1210(6). The Circuit Court Judge entered no such order.

This procedure intentionally and rationally provides great discretion to the Family Court – the court vested with exclusive jurisdiction over juveniles. It is the Family Court that first determines a request to transfer an otherwise juvenile prosecution to the circuit court. S.C. Code § 63-19-1210(6) (“The judge of the family court is authorized to determine [the prosecution’s] request [to transfer].”). But in all instances – in the absence of a constitutional grant of exclusive jurisdiction to the circuit court – the original subject matter jurisdiction lies in the Family Court.

Absent a transfer from the Family Court, no jurisdiction exists in the circuit court. “The jurisdiction of a court over the subject matter of a proceeding is fundamental.” State v. Guthrie, 352 S.C. 103,107, 572 S.E.2d

309 (Ct. App. 2002) (citation omitted). “The lack of subject matter jurisdiction can be raised at any time, can be raised for the first time on appeal, and can be raised *sua sponte* by the court.” Id. (citations omitted). “The acts of a court with respect to a matter as to which it has no jurisdiction are void.” Id. (citations omitted).

Here the Circuit Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction in the absence of a family court’s determination that transfer to that court was appropriate and the Circuit Court’s order that it elected to accept that transfer of jurisdiction. Statutory provisions defining “child” or “juvenile” to the contrary simply cannot enlarge or restrict a court’s jurisdiction contrary to those legal provisions granting such jurisdiction. See S.C. Code § 63-19-20(1) (in which the Juvenile Justice Code defines “child” or “juvenile” to exclude minors who are charged with certain crimes carrying sentences of fifteen years or more). Indeed, to define whether an individual is a child based on the acts committed, or solicitor preference, rather than the mental capacity and development of that individual runs counter to the entire body of law intended to protect and rehabilitate children. To leave discretion solely to the solicitor fails to protect the children of this State.

The basing of jurisdiction on definitions of “child” and “juvenile” that base those definitions on alleged crimes and then gives unfettered discretion to the solicitor to file charges in the Circuit Court, runs counter to the process due McBride.

To the extent that the overall statutory scheme intends to permit blanket and unchecked prosecutorial discretion to decide to try minors as adults, it runs afoul of Kent v. United States, 383 U.S. 541 (1966) and general constitutional protections afforded children based on their reduced capacity. See generally Miller v. Alabama, 132 S. Ct. 2455 (2012) (determining that due to the different psychology and development between juvenile and adult minds a life sentence without parole imposed for a non-homicide crime ran afoul of the Eight Amendment); see also Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48 (2010). Such a statutory scheme also runs afoul of the general treatment afforded children and the duties of a criminal prosecutor. It encourages charging offenses with more severe penalties to trigger the discretion of the solicitor.

It is simply inconceivable that whether a minor receives some formal consideration of the prudence of his facing charges as an adult simply rests with the solicitor. Vesting of such discretion invariably results in a failure to treat one minor similarly to another; and potentially violates the Equal Protection Clause of the United States Constitution. U.S. Const. amend. XIV. For example, where charges are originally filed in Family Court, a minor is entitled to review of the Kent factors, which factors include the following:

- (1) The seriousness of the alleged offense.
- (2) Whether the alleged offense was committed in an aggressive, violent, premeditated, or willful manner.
- (3) Whether the alleged offense was against persons or against property, greater weight being given to offenses against persons especially if personal injury resulted.
- (4) The prosecutive merit of the complaint.

- (5) The desirability of trial and disposition of the entire offense in one court.
- (6) The sophistication and maturity of the juvenile as determined by consideration of his home, environmental situation, emotional attitude and pattern of living.
- (7) The record and previous history of the juvenile, including previous contacts with law enforcement agencies, juvenile courts and other jurisdictions, prior periods of probation, or prior commitments to juvenile institutions.
- (8) The prospects for adequate protection of the public and the likelihood of reasonable rehabilitation of the juvenile (if he is found to have committed the alleged offense) by the use of procedures, services and facilities currently available.

State v. Jones, 392 S.C. 647, 652-653, 709 S.E.2d 696 (Ct. App. 2011) (citing the Kent factors and addressing whether the family court properly waived jurisdiction over a juvenile with a prior history of violent crime³). No consideration was given to any of these factors. Moreover, it seems counter to the purpose of the special code provisions aimed at children to leave the determination of one's childhood to whether a prosecutor charges the child with an offense serious enough to result in a serious sentence. In other words, where a child faces a minimum sentence of 25 years, the constitutional procedural safeguards should be greater, not lesser, when determining whether he shall face charges as an adult.

Moreover, as an officer of the court, the solicitor "represents all the people, including [the] accused, and [he] occupies a quasi-judicial position, whose sanctions and traditions he should preserve. It is his duty to see that

³ Where someone charged with armed robbery and manslaughter, as in Jones, and with a prior criminal history of armed robbery gets the benefit of family court consideration prior to transfer to the circuit court, a child such as McBride, with no criminal history is entitled to equal protection and process under the laws.

justice is done. He must see that no conviction takes place except in strict conformity with the law, and that [the] accused is not deprived of any constitutional rights or privileges.” State v. Rayfield, 369 S.C. 106, 631 S.E.2d 244, 248-249 (2006) (emphasis added). Contrary to these duties, no explanation is required of a solicitor utilizing her sole discretion to remove the trial of a child from Family Court to Circuit Court. The solicitor, here, failed to consider or represent any interest of the accused minor child.

The statutes addressing the treatment of children should be read together to provide some required analysis that trial as an adult is appropriate. Some procedure is required before the circuit court can exercise jurisdiction over a child who would otherwise be governed by the children’s code, juvenile justice and the specialized family courts.

II. ASSUMING THE CIRCUIT COURT HAD JURISDICTION, THE CIRCUIT COURT’S EVIDENTIARY RULINGS AND CONFUSING AND ERRONEOUS JURY INSTRUCTIONS VIOLATED MCBRIDE’S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS.

The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that the State shall not “deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law.” U.S. Const. amend. XIV; see also S.C. Const. Art. I § 3. As part of that guaranteed Due Process, the Confrontation Clause provides that a defendant in criminal cases “shall enjoy the right . . . to be confronted with the witnesses against him.” U.S. Const. amend. VI; S.C. Const. Art. I § 14. Inherent in the process due such a defendant, the State cannot be permitted both to rely on selective, surprise

photographs of missing evidence, while depriving the defendant access to that evidence. And, inherent in the Confrontation Clause's protections is the right to relevant and thorough cross-examination of witnesses.

In this case, struggling with difficult facts, the Circuit Court unfortunately erred in a number of evidentiary rulings and decisions, resulting in insufficient procedural safeguards and violations of due process.

A. Where Law Enforcement Lost Key and Potentially Exculpatory Evidence Without Explanation and Contrary to Admitted Investigatory Norms, Due Process Was Violated, or At a Minimum, Required That a Spoliation Charge Be Given to the Jury.

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