ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

JUN 29 2015

Appeal from Williamsburg County  
John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2013-002391

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

JUSTIN MCBRIDE,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER  
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

ERNEST A. FINNEY, III  
Third Judicial Circuit

215 N. Harvin Street  
Sumter, SC 29150

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Williamsburg County  
John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge

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

McBride argues there was insufficient evidence of a sexual battery to find him guilty. However, in the light most favorable to the State, evidence was sufficient for a reasonable juror to find McBride guilty of a sexual battery based on evidence of fellatio.

When considering a motion for directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence of evidence, not its weight. State v. Walker, 349 S.C. 49, 53, 562 S.E.2d 313, 315 (2002). In reviewing the denial of a motion for a directed verdict, the reviewing court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. Id. If there is any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, an appellate court must find that the case was properly submitted to the jury. State v. McGowan, 347 S.C. 618, 622, 557 S.E.2d 657, 659 (2001).

Ultimately, the question is whether, in view of the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact could find all the elements beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Robinson, 310 S.C. 535, 539, 426 S.E.2d 317, 318. (1992) (finding any rational trier of fact could have found all the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt in affirming the denial of a motion for directed verdict and citing Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307 (1979)).

“A person is guilty of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree if . . . the actor engages in sexual battery with a victim who is less than eleven years of age . . . .” S. C. Code Ann. § 16-3-655. Sexual battery is defined as "sexual intercourse,

cunnilingus, fellatio, anal intercourse, or any intrusion, however slight, of any part of a person's body or of any object into the genital or anal openings of another person's body . . . ." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-651(h).

The battery element has been interpreted broadly to cover even the slightest sexual contact. For instance, in State v. Mathis, 287 S.C. 589, 340 S.E.2d 538 (1986), the South Carolina Supreme Court found the six year-old victim's testimony that the defendant touched her with his penis, but could not remember whether he put it inside her body, sufficient to survive directed verdict where she also testified it hurt. The Supreme Court found this was sufficient evidence of an intrusion to survive directed verdict. See also Smith v. South Carolina, 882 F.2d 895, 899 (4th Cir. 1989) (opining "neither Mathis nor the statute [section 16-3-651(h)] requires that there be evidence of penetration or intrusion of the victim's body. There must merely be evidence of intrusion by one person into another person's body.").

In State v. Johnson, 334 S.C. 78, 512 S.E.2d 795 (1999), the Supreme Court similarly found evidence of an intrusion sufficient to survive directed verdict on the element of sexual battery as to the victim named Betty where Betty testified that Johnson touched Betty and it hurt, and the physical examination revealed an injury inside Betty's vagina. Id. at 85-86, 512 S.E.2d at 799.

In State v. Morgan, 352 S.C. 359, 574 S.E.2d 203 (Ct. App. 2002), this Court considered the proper definition of "cunnilingus" as defined by section 16-3-651(h) and ultimately rejected a restrictive definition that would require penetration. This Court observed that the act of cunnilingus is a statutorily enumerated type of sexual battery. In reaching that conclusion, this Court quoted a substantial portion of State v. Ludlum, 281

S.E.2d 159 (N.C. 1981). However, a particularly relevant passage quoted is the following:

We are satisfied the Legislature did not intend that the vulva in its entirety or the clitoris specifically must be stimulated in order for cunnilingus to occur. To adopt this view would saddle the criminal law with hypertechnical distinctions and the prosecution with overly complex and in some cases impossible burdens of proof. We think, rather, that given the possible interpretations of the word as ordinarily used, the Legislature intended to adopt that usage which would avoid these difficulties.

Morgan, 352 S.C. at 371, 574 S.E.2d at 370-71 (quoting Ludlum at 162-63).

The Nebraska Supreme Court, in interpreting a provision similar to our own, found “where defendant has engaged the victim’s mouth with the defendant’s penis, the defendant has committed fellatio and thus been guilty of ‘sexual penetration.’” State v. Gonzales, 366 N.W.2d 775, 777 (Neb. 1985).

The Minnesota Court of Appeals adopted a dictionary definition which defined fellatio as “oral stimulation of the penis” and determined oral stimulation would mean any stimulation by the mouth, tongue or lips. State v. Ptacek, 766 N.W.2d 355 (Minn. Ct. App. 2009).

In State v. Johnson, 413 S.E.2d 562 (N.C. Ct. App. 1992), two female children testified that the defendant inserted his penis into their mouth, but their lips never touched his penis. The court cited its state supreme court precedent defining fellatio as “contact between the mouth of one party and the sex organs of another.” Id. at 563 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). The court further explained: “The case law clearly holds that fellatio is any touching of the male sexual organ by the lips, tongue, or mouth of another person.” Id. at 564. The North Carolina Court of Appeals found evidence to

support conviction, opining “it is logical to infer that when the penis of an adult male is placed in the mouth of a five year old child, a touching of some part of that child’s mouth, however slight, will occur.” Id. The court concluded as follows:

Finally, we note that it would be an absurdity under the facts of this case to overturn defendant’s convictions for first degree sexual offense. All the evidence points to an unwarranted and unwelcomed invasion by the defendant’s penis into the mouths of these little children. The jury found that such activity occurred.

Id.; see Beltz v. State, 980 P.2d 474, 476 (Alaska Ct. App. 1999) (rejecting dictionary definitions advanced by appellant suggesting requirement of sexual stimulation and approving a dictionary definition defining fellatio as “a sexual activity involving oral contact with the penis”); State v. McParlin, 422 A.2d 742, 743 n.2 (R.I. 1980) (noting definition of fellatio as “the offense committed with the male sexual organ and the mouth” cited in Black’s Law Dictionary 743 (4th ed. Rev. 1968)); Travis v. State, 98 A.3d 281, 287 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 2014) (finding “[f]or the appellant to place his penis inside the lips and in contact with the teeth of the victim qualifies as oral-genital contact within the contemplation of the term ‘fellatio’”).<sup>2</sup>

In the instant case, McBride contends there is no evidence of oral contact or stimulation with his penis. On cross-examination, Victim explained the following:

Q: So he grabbed your head like this?

A: No, with his hand.

---

<sup>2</sup> Nor should actual penetration of the mouth be required to constitute fellatio. See In re S.M., 666 A.2d 177, 181 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 1995) (“We conclude that placing one’s mouth on the penis of a male victim without inserting the victim’s penis into the mouth falls within the legislature’s proscription of prohibited acts. We conclude that the public is reasonably apprised of the legislative intent based upon concepts of common intelligence and ordinary human experience.” (citation omitted)).

Q: With his hand? Where was the rest of his arm?

A: Still back here.

Q: Okay. So he comes over like this and then pulled – grabbed your head with his hand like this?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: And pushes down?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: Now does it go in your mouth?

A: Yes, sir.

ROA. p. 113, lines 1-13. Obviously, from context, McBride was referring to his penis when asking if “it” went into his mouth. His intention was verified when he tried to argue to Victim that this was inconsistent with her direct examination. However, Victim verified her answer as follows:

Q: Now while the solicitor was asking you earlier, isn't it correct that you stated that it never went in your mouth?

A: It went in my mouth. That's when the stuff came out of his manhood and went in my mouth.

ROA. p. 113, lines 19-24.

Additionally, cross-examination of Detective Hamlet confirmed that Victim reported oral penetration. ROA. p. 202, lines 11-15. Finally, the jury could logically infer that oral stimulation caused McBride to ejaculate absent evidence of another form of contact at that moment. Put in the light most favorable to the State, direct evidence supports the conviction, and the trial court did not err in denying the motion for directed verdict.

VII.

**McBride was not subject to custodial interrogation and therefore did not need to be advised of his rights, and further, McBride received the only relief he requested, so no issue remains for this Court to review. Additionally, McBride did not renew any objection to his statement before the jury and any error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. (Appellant's Issue IV).**

McBride dedicates little more than a page of his brief to argue that his Miranda<sup>3</sup> rights were violated. The reason for his truncated analysis may lie in the fact that the issue is clearly unpreserved. McBride successfully convinced the trial court to strike a portion of the statement and did not object when the remainder was published to the jury. This Court should not review the issues. Further, the statement was not the result of custodial interrogation, so Miranda does not apply.

During the pre-trial hearing, Detective Hamlet testified she went to McBride's house after speaking with Victim. ROA. p. 23. She spoke with McBride after getting permission from McBride's mother. ROA. pp. 33-34. Detective Hamlet explained she did not read McBride Miranda rights because he was not under arrest and because "[w]e were just trying to sort out who, you know, what happened." ROA. pp. 33-34 (direct quote, ROA. p. 34, lines 21-22). She testified that McBride's mother was present the whole time. Detective Hamlet testified McBride was not under arrest, not placed in handcuffs, and free to leave at any time. ROA. pp. 23-25. Detective Hamlet testified the conversation took place for roughly five to ten minutes. ROA. pp. 24-25.

Detective Hamlet testified she asked McBride if he knew why law enforcement was there and McBride responded "that they were trying to say that he touched his

---

<sup>3</sup> Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

cousin.” ROA. p. 36, lines 3-9. Detective Hamlet next asked what happened and McBride gave his version of events. McBride admitted he let Victim inside the house and no one else was home. McBride told her they watched television. At some point, McBride went to the restroom. Victim came into the restroom while he was still using the restroom and he tried to conceal himself. He yelled at her to leave the bathroom. A short time thereafter she left to go home. ROA. pp. 26-27.

Following Detective Hamlet’s in camera testimony, McBride specifically asked for only the initial statement – about the reason Detective Hamlet was interviewing McBride – to be suppressed. ROA. p. 38, lines 12-23. When given the opportunity to respond to McBride’s argument, the solicitor asked for clarification that only the initial statement about why law enforcement was there was being challenged. McBride confirmed that was correct. ROA. p. 40, lines 11-17. **The trial court ruled in McBride’s favor**, suppressing the answer to the initial question of whether McBride knew why law enforcement was there. ROA. p. 45, lines 8-21. When the remainder of McBride’s statement to Detective Hamlet was published to the jury, **there was no objection**. ROA. pp. 172-173.

The issue raised now on appeal is not preserved for review. “Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide us with a platform for meaningful appellate review.” Queen’s Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp., 368 S.C. 342, 373 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct. App. 2006). “In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial [court]. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal.” State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142,

587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003).

In the instant case, the trial court struck only a portion of the statement, **per McBride's request**. Therefore, McBride received the relief he asked for, leaving no issue for this Court to review. State v. Parris, 387 S.C. 460, 465, 692 S.E.2d 207, 209 (Ct. App. 2010) (finding there is no issue for the appellate court to decide if a defendant receives the relief requested from the trial court).

Further, McBride waived further objection since he did not renew any remaining objection he might have when the statement was published to the jury. A ruling *in limine* is not a final ruling on the admissibility of evidence. State v. Griffin, 339 S.C. 74, 528 S.E.2d 668 (2000); State v. Hughes, 336 S.C. 585, 521 S.E.2d 500 (1999). Generally, a motion *in limine* seeks a pre-trial evidentiary ruling to prevent the disclosure of potentially prejudicial matter to the jury. See State v. Floyd, 295 S.C. 518, 369 S.E.2d 842 (1988). A pre-trial ruling on the admissibility of evidence is preliminary and subject to change based on developments at trial. Id. Unless an objection is made at the time the evidence is offered and a final ruling made, the issue is not preserved for review. State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993).

McBride's argument fails on the merits as well. The warnings were not required as the statement was not the product of a custodial interrogation. Under Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 444 (1966), prior to custodial interrogation, a suspect must be warned he has a right to remain silent, any of his statements may be used against him, and he has a right to an attorney. However, these requirements only apply to situations involving custodial interrogation. Id. at 477.

Custodial interrogations are made up of two key components: custody and

interrogation. State v. Whitner, 380 S.C. 513, 518, 670 S.E.2d 655, 658 (Ct. App. 2008). “Miranda warnings are required for official interrogations only when a suspect ‘has been taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom of action in any significant way.’” State v. Easler, 327 S.C. 121, 127, 489 S.E.2d 617, 621 (1997) (quoting Miranda, 384 U.S. at 444). In the present case, McBride was not in custody and indicated willingness to engage in what was clearly non-confrontational questioning lasting a mere five to ten minutes. Accordingly, Miranda would not apply in the present case.

In support of admission of the statement, the solicitor cited United States v. Parker, 262 F.3d 415 (4th Cir. 2001). In Parker, in support of the finding that the statement was admissible, the Fourth Circuit noted that Parker was in her own home during questioning. The Fourth Circuit also noted that a relative was allowed to enter the interview room twice during questioning. Further, Parker was never told that she was not free to leave. Id. at 419. In the instant case, the fact that McBride was in his own home and his mother was present weighs heavily in favor of admissibility. Detective Hamlet testified she even asked McBride’s mother for permission to question McBride, which she provided. ROA. p. 25, lines 4-11.

Under the totality of circumstances, McBride was not in custody, and therefore, Miranda would not apply. State v. Kerr, 330 S.C. 132, 146, 498 S.E.2d 212, 219 (Ct. App. 1998) (finding DUI suspect not in custody under totality of circumstances) (citation omitted); see also In re Drolshagen, 280 S.C. 84, 310 S.E.2d 927 (1984) (finding juvenile questioned by school officials in the principal’s office while police officers were present was not in custody for purposes of Miranda).

The reason, of course, McBride’s counsel sought admission of the remainder of

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